**RECEIVED**

MAY 31 2024  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Docket No. 23-ALJ-04-0835-AP

Appellate Case No. 2024-000665

Thomas Thompson #80681

Appellant,

vs

South Carolina Department  
of Corrections

Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Thomas Thompson #80681  
Pro Se Litigant  
Tyger River CI U2-102  
200 Prison Road  
Enoree, South Carolina  
29335

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1.- Did Appellant Thompson exhaust his Agency Remedies?
  
- 2.- Is Appellant Thompson due back wages for all his time worked in the PIE program?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Thomas Thompson, an inmate incarcerated in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) appeals the Order of Dismissal by the Administrative Law Court (ALC) of his appeal of a grievance seeking back wages for work in the Prison Industries Employment (PIE) program. Thompson contends that the SCDC dispensed his wages under section 24-3-40 based on a lower gross wage than that paid by the industry sponsor. Thompson also contends that the SCDC failed to contract with the industry to pay the prevailing wage for work in the PIE program in accordance with section 24-3-430(D).

## HISTORY

Prior to filing the grievance in question Thompson's initial grievance was returned with instructions to comply with SCDC Policy ADM 15.13. On April 11, 2023 Thompson submitted an automated request to staff member (ARTSM) on the KIOSK to Inmate Finance (#23-03074299) stating that the wages he received on April 2, 2023 were not proper. On April 19, 2023 Thompson received a response saying that HQ had stated that all inmates were paid proper wages according to S.C. state law. Thompson submitted two additional ARTSMs on this issue (#23-03095406 and #23-03103676) while filing a grievance asking that his current pay be adjusted to comply with section 24-3-40 and section 24-3-430(D) (T4RC1 0270-23)

Thompson started work in the SCDC PIE program at Kershaw CI from 2009 through 2015. Thompson worked in the hardwood flooring industry for RM Design and was paid the minimum wage, \$7.25 until receiving a 50¢ raise in the later part of 2014. Thompson transferred to Tyger River CI and worked in the hardwood flooring industry for Shaw Industries from June 2016 until March 2024. Thompson was paid minimum wage, \$7.25 and received a 5¢ raise after 90 days and a 3¢ raise in 2017, 2018, and 2019. Both of these industry sponsors were paying the SCDC a higher hourly gross wage than that dispensed by the SCDC under section 24-3-40. Thompson has no knowledge of the prevailing wage for these jobs and time periods but is aware that the SCDC is currently making settlements with inmates based on a prevailing wage of \$16.36.

## ARGUMENT

On April 17, 2023 Thompson filed grievance TYRCI 0-230-23 seeking back wages for the entire time he worked in the SCDC PIE program. SCDC Policy 15.13 does not provide a remedy beyond two pay periods. However since the SCDC prohibits duplicate ARTSMs, the April 11, 2023 ARTSM should establish exhaustion of Agency remedies in both grievances (TYRCI 0231-23 and 070-23). The

ALC has issued an order ruling that the SCDC cannot use ADM 15.13 to deny inmate grievances regarding PIE wages. ALC Judge Deborah Brooks Dueden ruled in Sanders v SCDC that ADM 15.13 is a statement of Agency Policy without force of law. Judge Dueden ruled that an Agency cannot contradict a statute by regulation, only supplement it.

The COA and the Supreme Court have clearly ruled that the SCDC is required to disburse inmate PIE wages under section 24-3-40 based on the gross hourly wage remitted by the industry and not the lesser amount. The courts have also ruled that the SCDC was required to contract with these industries to pay the prevailing wage according to the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce. These cases are Torrence I (2007), Torrence II (2021), Gatewood (2016), and Mittag (2022) et al.

## CONCLUSION

Thompson has exhausted all available agency remedies. The SCDC is liable for failing to pay proper wages in the PIE program. Thompson should receive all due back wages for his work in the PIE programs.

MAY 23, 2024

  
Thomas Thompson #80681

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT  
Robert L. REIBOLD, Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000665