**RECEIVED**

**Feb 20 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Administrative Law Judge Robert L. Reibold

---

ALC Case No. 23-ALJ-04-0835-AP  
Appellate Case No. 2024-000665

---

THOMAS THOMPSON, # 80681

APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

RESPONDENT.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT  
OF CORRECTIONS**

**Christina Catoe Bigelow**  
Deputy General Counsel  
Office of General Counsel  
South Carolina Dept. of Corrections  
Post Office Box 21787  
Columbia, South Carolina 29221  
(803) 896-8508

**ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

**SINCE AN INTERVENING OCCURRENCE HAS RENDERED THE APPEAL MOOT SUCH THAT NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY REMAINS, THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before this Court pursuant to the appeal of Thomas Thompson (Appellant), an inmate confined in SCDC. In 2023, Appellant submitted grievances concerning his rate of pay for his work in Prison Industries. These grievances were denied, and Appellant appealed to the Administrative Law Court. On March 12, 2024, Administrative Law Judge Robert L. Reibold issued an order dismissing the appeal due to Appellant's failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. This appeal followed, and Appellant submitted his Initial Brief in May of 2024.

In June 2024, Respondent submitted a motion to hold the appeal in abeyance pending settlement negotiations. After settlement negotiations were unsuccessful, Respondent filed a motion to remand the case back to the ALC with instructions to remand the matter back to the Department for issuance of a supplemental Step 2 response. On October 28, 2024, this Court granted the motion to remand. On December 13, 2024, the ALC issued an Order remanding the matter. On December 19, 2024, Appellant was served with the supplemental Step Two Grievance response. The Step Two response explained that the Department had performed wage calculations for Appellant's work in Prison Industries at the prevailing wage rate and provided that that if Appellant wished to dispute the Department's calculations or the time period of the calculations, he could file a new Notice of Appeal with the ALC. On September 30, 2024, Respondent submitted a motion to dismiss the appeal, arguing that the instant appeal was moot since an appealable agency decision had been issued to Appellant regarding his wage calculations. On January 21, 2025, this Court denied the motion without prejudice to arguing the issue of mootness in the briefs. On February 20, 2025, Respondent submitted a second motion to dismiss the appeal on the ground that the appeal was conclusively moot because Appellant filed a new Notice of Appeal in the ALC from the supplemental Step 2 decision and the case was proceeding in the ALC. This Brief accompanies the motion to dismiss as ordered by the Court on January 21, 2025.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) provides the general standard of review for appeals from the Administrative Law Court:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In an appeal of a final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). "Substantial evidence" is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow a reasonable mind to reach the same conclusion that administrative agency reached. Hendley v. S.C. State Budget & Control Bd., 325 S.C. 413, 481 S.E.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1996). A reviewing court shall not substitute its own judgment for that of the ALC as to findings of fact, but it may reverse or modify decisions that are controlled by errors of law or that are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Id.

## ARGUMENT

**SINCE AN INTERVENING OCCURRENCE HAS RENDERED THE APPEAL MOOT SUCH THAT NO JUSTICIABLE CONTROVERSY REMAINS, THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED.**

Appellant filed an appeal challenging an order of the Administrative Law Judge Robert L. Reibold which dismissed his request to be paid the prevailing wage on failure to exhaust grounds without addressing the merits of the claim. On October 28, 2024, this Court issued an Order remanding the matter to the ALC with instructions to further remand the matter to the Department of Corrections for issuance of a supplemental Step Two Grievance response. On December 13, 2024, the ALC issued an Order remanding the matter back to the Department. On December 19, 2024, Appellant was served with the supplemental Step Two Grievance response (see attached redacted grievance response packet). The Step Two response explained that the Department had performed wage calculations for Appellant's work in Prison Industries at the prevailing wage rate and noted that Appellant had rejected all settlement offers. The Step Two response also provided that that if Appellant wished to dispute the Department's calculations or the time period of the calculations, he could file a new Notice of Appeal with the ALC. On January 6, 2025, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal in the ALC challenging his wage calculations, and the matter is currently assigned to Judge Ralph King Anderson, III and is pending under case number 2025-ALJ-04-0038-AP (see Respondent's Motion to Dismiss dated February 20, 2025 and attached Notice of Appeal and email from the ALC). If Appellant is unsatisfied with the outcome of his case in that matter, he can file an appeal to the Court of Appeals.

The issue of wage calculations cannot be addressed in this appeal because wage calculations were not before the Administrative Law Court. Judge Reibold dismissed Appellant's appeal below for failure to exhaust his administrative remedies. (See ALC Order dated March 12, 2024). He did

not make any ruling on the merits and therefore did not address the issue of wage calculations. Wage calculations had not been performed at that time and therefore wage calculations were not before the ALC in any fashion. Therefore, the substantive issue of Appellant's wage calculations cannot be addressed by this Court in this appeal since it was not addressed by the lower court. See SCACR, Rule 210 (c) and (h).

The issuance and service of an appealable Final Agency Decision regarding Appellant's wage calculations, and Appellant's subsequent appeal to the ALC, has rendered this appeal moot because no justiciable controversy remains as to arguments made in Appellant's Brief, which was filed prior to the issuance and service of the Final Agency Decision and prior to Appellant's appeal to the ALC submitted January 6, 2025. A justiciable controversy exists "when there is a real and substantial controversy which is appropriate for judicial determination, as distinguished from a dispute that is contingent, hypothetical, or abstract." Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 369 S.C. 20, 25, 630 S.E.2d 474, 477 (2006) (citation omitted). "A moot case exists where a judgment rendered by the court will have no practical legal effect upon an existing controversy because an intervening event renders any grant of effectual relief impossible for the reviewing court." Mathis v. South Carolina State Highway Dep't, 260 S.C. 344, 346, 195 S.E.2d 713, 715 (1973). "If there is no actual controversy, this Court will not decide moot or academic questions." Id.

The order of Judge Robert L. Reibold dismissing Appellant's ALC case for failure to exhaust is now moot since the substantive issue of Appellant's wage calculations is being litigated in the Administrative Law Court before Judge Ralph King Anderson, III, under case number 2025-ALJ-04-0038-AP. Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests that this appeal be dismissed as moot.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should dismiss the appeal as moot.